0A 20281

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 71,634

WILLIAM F. CHILDERS and HOLLY
CHILDERS, as joint Personal
Representatives of the Estate of
WILLIAM GILES CHILDERS,

Petitioners,

vs.

HOFFMANN-LaROCHE, INC.;
LAWRENCE SCHACHNER, M.D.; SAPAC,
Ltd.; F. HOFFMANN-LaROCHE & CO.
Ltd.; ROCHE BIOMEDICAL
LABORATORIES, INC.; BINDLEY
WESTERN INDUSTRIES, INC.;
THE KROGER COMPANY; SUPER-X DRUG
STORES OF FLORIDA, INC.; SUPER X
DRUGS CORPORATION;

Respondents,

FILED
MAY 3 1980
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS
ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF JEFFREY P. KAISER
15476 N.W. 77th Court - Suite 315
Hialeah, Florida 33012
Phone: (305) 822-8484

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

INTRODUCTION:

Petitioners, William F. Childers and Holly Childers, as Personal Representatives of the Estate of William Giles Childers, were Plaintiffs in the Circuit Court of the 11th Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida and Appellants in the Third District Court of Appeal. Respondents, Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., Roche Biomedical Laboratories, Inc., Bindley-Western Industries, Inc., The Kroger Company, Super-X Drug Stores of Florida, Inc., and Super-X Drugs Corporation, were Defendants in the Circuit Court and Appellees in the Third District Court of Appeal.

Decedent, William Giles Childers, died on October 12, 1983, having been born August 19, 1983 with multiple, severe birth defects, as a proximate result of a prescription drug prescribed to his mother for her skin condition in the first trimester of her pregnancy. The drug, Accutane, had been placed on the market in September 1982 by Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc. Hoffmann-LaRoche disseminated printed advertisements, warnings and product information about the product aimed at physicians, including wording which it referred to as its "package insert." It also provided directly to Holly Childers, through its contracting agent, the University of Miami, typewritten printed materials purporting to be full warnings of all adverse side effects of isotretinoin.

A wrongful death action against Hoffmann-LaRoche was filed March 20 1985, in Dade County Circuit Court by the personal representatives of the decedent's estate.

The Circuit Court entered a partial order of consolidation of the Petitioners' wrongful death action with the substantially identical wrongful death action filed by the petitioner in the Felix v. Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc. case which is presently pending review before this Honorable Court, Case No. 71,633. (R.A. 3243-3244).

A Summary Judgment was entered in Circuit Court on all counts in favor of the product's manufacturer, distributors, retailers and the manufacturer's detailman (promotional salesman), on August 13, 1986. (R.A. 3824).

The Summary Judgment was appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal via timely Notice of Appeal filed September 12, 1986. (R.A. 3672-3673).

The District Court granted appellants' motion to share a single record on appeal with the Felix v. Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., companion case in an order dated September 26, 1986.

The Third District Court of Appeal issued its opinion on October 6, 1987, affirming the Summary Judgment. Childers v. Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., (R.A. 4917). The Childers decision consisted of a per curiam affirmation based upon the authority of its companion case, Felix v. Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., 513 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), Third District Case No. 86-1844, filed

six days before. (R.A. 4913-4915). The Felix opinion was timely appealed to this Supreme Court and is under review at present. (Appendix Exhibit "E").

A Motion for Re-Hearing or Clarification of the Third District's decision was timely filed pursuant to Rule 9.330 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. The Third District entered an Order denying that motion on November 24, 1987. (R.A. 4918).

Petitioners herein timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this court in accordance with Rule 9.120(b) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

On March 18, 1988, this Supreme Court entered its Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Setting Oral Argument. On April 12, 1988, this Court granted Petitioners' request to extend time for filing their initial brief, ordering that same be served by May 2, 1988.

Petitioners concurrently seek review of the denial of their motion to strike notices of hearing and/or to continue hearing on the motion for summary judgment (R.A. 3821-3823).

Petitioners will hereafter refer to Respondent, Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., as "Hoffmann," and Respondent, Roche Biomedical Laboratories, Inc., as "Roche."

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a wrongful death action (R.A. 934) alleging as to Respondents strict liability for their admitted manufacturing (R.A. 4100, 3906) and marketing (R.A. 3450, 3902) of a defective product, which is a prescription drug known as Accutane (R.A.

3906), having the generic name of Isotretinoin, a chemical derivative of 13-cis-retinoic acid, and a synthetic analog of Vitamin A (R.A. 3902), conceded to be teratogenic and dangerous (R.A. 3236-3237), the use of which had resulted in fetal abnormality, and about which there was positive evidence of fetal risk (R.A. 932, 3912, 4103, 2396-2400, 3945-3953, 3432-3497) prior to the within incident (R.A. 3433-3438, 3507-3511), and which was distributed and sold by Respondents, or some of them, as a treatment for acne (R.A. 3451, 4100). There are other acne treatments available (R.A. 4106, 2396). Petitioner also seeks damages for negligence, and as to Respondents, Hoffmann and Roche, for fraudulent concealment (R.A. 2743-2744); and breach of warranty, claims for misbranded drugs are alleged against the retailing Respondent. (R.A. 936-937).

In 1982, Holly Childers was in the first trimester of pregnancy while undergoing an Accutane treatment program for ichthyosis (R.A. 4100, 934). As a result of the Accutane in her body (R.A. 1405), her infant, William Giles Childers, was born with numerous, severe malformations (R.A. 2741, 3428-3438, 3875-3879), on August 19, 1983 (R.A. 2741), and died October 12, 1983 (R.A. 2734). In August, 1983, the wording of package inserts published by Respondent Hoffmann, changed from those published in 1982 (R.A. 1432, 3483-3498). These facts are not in dispute (R.A. 1405, 1427, 1432, 4100).

The Case and Facts

A. Pleadings

Petitioners commenced this litigation on March 20, 1985 (R.A. 2498-2511), naming as Defendants Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., manufacturer of Accutane (R.A. 1-14) and the treating physician who is not involved in this appeal. Respondents Roche Biomedical Laboratories, Inc., Bindley-Western Industries, Inc., The Kroger Company, Super-X Drug Stores of Florida, Inc., and Super-X Drugs Corporation became parties by the Amended Complaint for Wrongful Death dated October 15, 1985 (R.A. 2736-2796), following an Order allowing the amendment of the Complaint entered October 31, 1985 (R.A. 2797).

On August 14, 1986, the Order of Final Summary Judgment for all six Respondents was entered (R.A. 3824). None had filed an Answer to Appellants' Complaint or Amended Complaint.

B. Material Facts and Issues

In or about June, 1982, Respondent Hoffmann published a four-page package insert (R.A. 3915) which should have complied with Federal Food and Drug Administration labeling requirements¹ (R.A. 3904) for distribution of the drug Accutane. From said package insert Respondent Hoffmann quoted in its Response to Request for Admissions #49 served April 3, 1984 (R.A. 3913). Said package insert is the primary subject of the Affidavit (R.A. 3482-3498) and Supplemental Affidavit (R.A. 3516-3519) of David Ziskind, Petitioner's expert witness; and attached to his Affidavit is a copy of the text of said package insert as it appeared in 1982 (R.A. 3491) and as it appeared subsequent to

¹ FDA labeling requirements appear in 21 CFR §201.57(F)(6)(e). The 1982 package insert does not comply with its mandatory language.

1982 (R.A. 3497). A copy of the language used in August, 1983, which is the same language attached to the Affidavit of Dr. Ziskind, was part of Deposition Exhibit 21 (R.A. 2269-2270).

On February 19, 1986, Respondents took the deposition of Fred O. Pasternack, M.D., (R.A. 2211-2320), who had worked for a drug manufacturing firm as a new product investigator and research/marketing liaison. (R.A. 2220). On March 23, 1986, Petitioner served notice of filing two Affidavits of Paul Benke, M.D., who had authored medical journal articles on Accutane, and of Fred O. Pasternack, M.D., (R.A. 3428-3438), along with the deposition transcript of Dr. Pasternack (R.A. 2211-2320).

On March 28, 1986, Respondents moved to exclude the Affidavit and deposition transcript of Dr. Pasternack (R.A. 1227-1230). The written Order entered May 8, 1986 (R.A. 1332-134) did not exclude same, but ruled that the testimony would not be considered expert testimony for any purpose.

On May 8, 1986, the Trial Court stated it would consider the affidavit of Petitioner's Expert Witness David Ziskind (R.A. 1438, R.A. 3483-3498). Respondents' Motion to Strike the Supplemental Affidavits of David Ziskind served May 13, 1986 (R.A. 3516-3519, together with those of Paul Benke, M.D., (R.A. 3503-3505, May, 1986) and of Fred O. Pasternack, M.D., (R.A. 3512-3515) was denied by Order entered June 13, 1986 (R.A. 1362-1364), and they were therefore before the Court at the time of both Summary Judgment hearings in addition to those previously filed (R.A. 3428-3438, 3481-3498, 3507-3511).

On July 23, 1986, Petitioners filed the Affidavit of James O'Donnell, D. Phar., Ph.D., (R.A. 3556-3559, 4881-4882), who testified regarding the foreseeability of Accutane causing the within incident, and this affidavit was considered by the Court in ruling on Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment (R.A. 3233).

On July 9, 1986, counsel for Petitioners filed Notice of Filing Depositions of Paul Benke, M.D. (R.A. 3027-3029) together with the deposition transcript (R.A. 4528-5691), filed specifically for purposes of consideration by the Court in connection with summary judgment motions of Respondents in this cause. Dr. Benke is board certified in three areas, including "clinical genetics" (R.A. 4533). Of the fifteen or sixteen clinical articles he has authored, at least two deal with teratology (R.A. 4542), and effect on fetuses (R.A. 4545-4546). Dr. Benke stated there was "no safe dose to be given pregnant women." (R.A. 4684). He questioned the adequacy of the printed package inserts of Respondent Hoffmann in the use of the work "should" (R.A. 4586),² and as a means of warning a dermatologist (R.A. 4685-4686). However, he deferred to the qualifications of those who actually write the warnings as to adequacy (R.A. 4661). He stated that the warnings were not adequate for at least one dermatologist (R.A. 4685-4686). He stated "Category X"³ meant,

² Also in Affidavit dated May 13, 1986, R.A. 3503-3505.

³ Category X is an FDA designation appearing in the CFR section dealing with labeling requirements of prescription drugs.

"not to be taken when pregnant" (R.A. 4665). Dr. Benke knew of the after-the-fact changes of warnings in the labeling of the product by Appellee Hoffmann (R.A. 4669).

There is evidence of record that Respondent Hoffmann and/or other Respondents failed to comply with FDA labeling requirements in marketing the drug (R.A. 3945-3953), and that Respondent Hoffmann knew and had reason to know of the shortcomings and risks (R.A. 3429-3433, 3507-3511; and R.A. 2261, Deposition Exhibit 8 contained in small box in record). as well as the likelihood of its being administered to pregnant women (R.A. 4587). There is considerable evidence of record that the drug should not have even been on the market (R.A. 3556-3559; 4875-4882, 3429-3432).

Prescribing physician Lawrence Schchner, M.D., a dermatologist, claimed by Affidavit that he warned Petitioner Holly Childers of the hazard involved in the use of Accutane, and that the warnings were oral and written (R.A. 2993-2994). Petitioner denied that Dr. Schachner warned her orally as to the hazard (R.A. 4141, 4180, 4197), and denied she knew anything about it prior to the birth of William Giles Childers (R.A. 4160). Although Appellant Holly Childers acknowledged receiving some type of brochure (R.A. 4223-4351-4351A) she stated she did not recall what it said (R.A. 4222). Petitioner, William F. Childers stated it was some time after the death of the child before he knew that Accutane had anything to do with the child being born deformed (R.A. 4376-4377, 4379-4380, 4381-4382, 4383-4384). The father of Petitioner Holly Childers stated

several times, i.e., (R.A. 4441, 4444-4445, 4487-44448 4458), that he was not warned of the risks and hazards to unborn children of pregnant women. The mother of Holly Childers, Suzanne Giles, swore that the only warnings ever received by her and her family members about Accutane were totally silent on the hazard to a pregnant woman. These defficient warnings were given by the University of Miami while testing the new drug for Hoffmann. Petitioner Holly Childers, then a minor, was involved in the testing (R.A. 3523-3530), but it had discontinued the program because isotretinoin cased her dangerously high triglyceride levels. She subsequently consulted Dr. Schakner after Hoffmann released the drug on the market and was given the prescription that she was on when she conceived.

C. Incomplete Discovery

With reference to written discovery requests to Respondents, at the time of entry of Final Summary Judgment for Respondents, on July 24, 1987, Petitioner's Request to Produce to Respondent Wachman filed May 2, 1986 (R.A. 3469-2471) had not been responded to, the deposition of a knowledgeable corporate representative of Respondent Hoffmann had not been taken, and production requests dating back to early 1984 in the consolidated case, directed to Respondents Hoffmann (R.A. 3463-3465) and Wachman (R.A. 3466-3468), set for hearing May 28, 1986, but not heard until June 27, 1986 (R.A. 1507), were not completed by the time of final summary judgment.

On March 22, 1985, Petitioners' Request to Produce to Respondent Hoffmann (R.A. 2512) was served with the original complaint in this case. Immediately thereafter, Petitioners moved to consolidate this and the companion case for purposes of discovery (R.A. 293-294). The Order of consolidation was entered July 10, 1985. (R.A. 3243-3244).

On July 26, 1985, Respondent Hoffmann moved to recuse the Special Master who had been ordered to conduct all discovery hearings (R.A. 3271-3272). On July 29, 1985, in his Interim Report, he included a voluntary recusal (R.A. 3304-3305). This was approved by an Order dated September 11, 1985 (R.A. 3303). Although Petitioner moved for the appointment of another Special Master on August 13, 1985 (R.A. 3277-3278), and noticed it for hearing August 28, 1985 (R.A. 3286-3287), the new Special Master was not appointed until December 5, 1985 (R.A. 3366-3367). This caused additional delay in discovery proceedings.

On August 19, 1985, Petitioner filed a Memorandum of Law regarding Hoffmann's moving for summary judgment during pending discovery proceedings, and also discussed Respondent Hoffmann's motions for protective orders (R.A. 3288-3292). Prior to hearing, another one-month delay in discovery proceedings, and diversion of effort from discovery, resulted from Respondent Hoffmann filing a mandatory Petition for Removal to the Federal Court (R.A. 827-836) pursuant to U.S. Code Title 28 §1441 on September 16, 1985. Petitioner's Motion for Remand was granted, and the Order of Remand was filed October 18, 1985 (R.A. 893-894).

On November 25, 1985, Hoffmann again filed a Motion for Protective Order (R.A. 3345-3352). On December 5, 1985, the Court entered a nunc pro tunc order on Hoffmann's Motions for Protective Order on written discovery (R.A. 3360-3365), and another Order December 10, 1985 on Hoffmann's Motion for Protective Order as to the deposition of its corporate executive (R.A. 3393-3395), the same day that Hoffmann filed a further Motion for Protective Order (R.A. 3368-3390).

On May 2, 1986, six days prior to hearing on summary judgment in the companion case, Petitioner filed a Motion to Compel Hoffmann to produce a corporate representative (R.A. 3463-3465). Discovery motions as to Hoffmann continued into June and July (R.A. 1368-1371, 3815-3816), and an Order on various discovery motions as to Hoffmann was entered July 24, 1986 (R.A. 3568-3572) the day before Final Summary Judgment for Appellees was entered.

With respect to Motions for Protective Orders, the first was filed by Hoffmann March 13, 1985 (R.A. 222-225), and the second six days later (R.A. 226-227); and by the time these causes were consolidated, three hearings and three more Motions for Protective Orders were held or filed. Discovery hearings A further hearing were held September 23, 1985 (R.A. 3108-3138), and December 2, 1985 (R.A. 3674-3742), and another on December 23, 1985 (R.A. 3743-3761).

The subject of the December 23, 1985 hearing was primarily requests for production propounded over a year earlier. This production had still not been supplied despite orders upon motions to compel, when summary judgment was entered.

Respondent Hoffmann had filed Motions for Protective Orders on November 25, 1985 (R.A. 3345-3352) and on December 10, 1985 (R.A. 3368-3390).

With reference to discovery by deposition, Petitioner served the following Notices of Taking Deposition of Corporate Representative(s) Respondent Hoffmann in July 1985, during the fourth re-noticing of the depositions. Petitioners re-noticed this deposition as follows:

07/24/85 (R.A. 3267-3270)
07/24/85 (R.A. 4794-4797)
09/30/85 (R.A. 3309-3312)
10/03/85 (R.A. 1113-3315)
10/03/85 (R.A. 4810-4812)

On October 7, 1985, one of the issues at the hearing was the deposition of a corporate representative of Respondent Hoffmann (R.A. 4085-4097). On October 8, 1985, a deposition was taken in New Jersey of Respondent's designated representative, who was grossly unqualified to testify on the subjects duly noticed for the deposition. (R.A. 2033-2053). Petitioner tried to re-set meaningful depositions:

10/25/85 (R.A. 3320-3323)
10/25/85 (R.A. 4813-4816)

On December 2, 1985, the foremost subject of the 1-1/4 hour hearing before the Special Master was the deposition of a corporate representative of Respondent Hoffmann. Petitioners again re-noticed the depositions:

03/13/86 (R.A. 3411-3419)
03/26/86 (R.A. 3420-3427)
04/01/86 (R.A. 3439-3411A)

On May 2, 1986, Petitioner filed another Motion to Compel Respondent Hoffmann to arrange the taking of the deposition of a corporate representative of Hoffmann (R.A. 3463-3465), set for hearing before the Special Master on May 28, 1986, (R.A. 3475-3475A). The Motion was heard June 19, 1986 (R.A. 1459, 1467-1468), and again on June 27, 1986 (R.A. 1533-1544).

From May 1985 to July 1986, counsel for Petitioners made multiple attempts to arrange for the photocopying of the records of Respondent Hoffmann, but these efforts were frustrated for example by Respondent not revealing how many papers there were to copy (in hundreds of thousands) or where they were to be copied.

On February 18, 1986 two discovery motions were heard (R.A. 4038-4084). Reference was made also to difficulties Petitioners were having because of non-production of Respondent Hoffmann of documents required to be produced (R.A. 4077-4078).

On April 3, 1986, the deposition of Petitioner Holly Childers was taken. The deposition of Petitioner William F. Childers, was taken April 4, 1986. On April 11th the deposition of Dolores Marshall was taken. On April 25, 1988 the deposition of Lester Wachman was stopped incomplete due to Respondent's

refusals to answer many questions. (R.A. 2097-2210). On May 1st, Petitioners served both Notice of Hearing and Motion for Specific Production Procedures.

Petitioners filed two Motions to Compel discovery from Respondent Hoffmann (deposition of its corporate representative) (R.A. 3463-3465), and from Lester M. Wachman (answers to questions objected to at deposition (R.A. 3466-3468)

On June 16, 1986 the Order on Petitioners' Motion to Strike and Continue was entered requesting the Special Master to determine whether "discovery by Plaintiffs have been delayed by Defendant" (R.A 3815-3816). On June 18, 1986, Petitioners filed a Request for Report Re: Ongoing Discovery (R.A. 3531-3532), and set an emergency hearing before the Special Master on June 19th.

On June 23rd the deposition of Benroe Blount was taken in Belvoir, Virginia (R.A. 4692-4777). On June 25th the Report of the Special Master was filed (R.A. 3535-3537) in response to the Trial Court's query on discovery, containing findings from the June 19th hearing (R.A. 1496-1500). On June 25th Petitioners served Notice of Intent to Commence Photocopying of Production (R.A. 3533-3534). On June 27th, Respondents filed a Motion to to Quash Notice of Intent to Commence Photocopying of Production (R.A. 1372-1375)

On July 10, 1986 summary judgment hearing commenced at but was continued because of incomplete discovery (R.A. 3159-3160). The primary item of incomplete discovery was the production of documents by Respondent Hoffmann (R.A. 3139-3161).

On July 23, 1986, Petitioners filed the Affidavit of Jeffrey P. Kaiser as to both completed and yet incompletd discovery (R.A. 3560-3564).⁴ On July 24, 1986, during the re-set hearing on Respondent's Motions for Summary Judgment, counsel for Petitioners raised the question of incomplete discovery (R.A. 3197), which objection was overruled by the Court (R.A. 3198).

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