1/6 6-20-88

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 71,634

JUN 3 122**3** 

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District

Decisio Cient.

WILLIAM F. CHILDERS and HOLLY CHILDERS, as Joint Personal Representatives of the ESTATE OF WILLIAM GILES CHILDERS,

Petitioner,

- versus -

HOFFMANN-LAROCHE INC., ROCHE BIOMEDICAL LABORATORIES, INC., BINDLEY-WESTERN INDUSTRIES, INC., THE KROGER COMPANY, SUPER-X DRUG STORES OF FLORIDA, INC., and SUPER-X DRUGS CORPORATION,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Mercer K. Clarke
KELLEY DRYE & WARREN
including
SMATHERS & THOMPSON
Attorneys for Respondents
2400 Miami Center
100 Chopin Plaza

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Accutane is not and cannot be unreasonably dangerous per se under a strict liability/design defect/risk benefit analysis because public policy dictates that prescription drug manufacturers be excepted from the doctrine of strict liability and, instead, be governed by the principles contained in Comment k. to \$402 A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts.

There is no issue of material fact concerning the adequacy of the warning accompanying Accutane because it described the exact side effect, that is, birth defects, which plaintiff experienced.

There is no fact issue concerning fraudulent misrepresentations to the Food Drug Administration because the information in the Accutane package insert in effect at the time that Childers was prescribed Accutane was complete and accurate based on existing scientific knowledge.

<sup>8/</sup> With one legally irrelevant exception that on March 31 plaintiff's counsel noticed the deposition of a Roche corporate representative with the most knowledge of the statements made in the Betof and DelVeccio affidavits for April 17, 1986, at counsel's office in Miami. (R 3439). He was advised for approximately the twentieth time that Roche would not produce the witness in Miami, and he made no further attempts to arrange for that deposition. The record contains two other notices of the same depositions (R 3411 and R 3420), but, as with numerous

Childer's argument that Roche had a duty to warn her personally of Accutane's dangers (Point II) should be stricken since it was not raised in the Court of Appeal. In all events, no such duty exists.

Any inadequacy of Roche's warning was not a legal cause of plaintiff's injury because the prescribing doctor knew all about the teratogenic potential of Accutane from research sources independent of Roche. Consequently, his decision to prescribe was not affected by the Roche warning.

Childers' contention that Roche package inserts revised subsequent to the discovery of birth defects in the Childers infant should be admitted as proof of negligence or inadequacy of the warning is fallacious because of the applicability of the subsequent remedial measures rule which renders such evidence inadmissible. Inadmissible evidence cannot be considered by a trial judge in opposition to a motion for summary judgment.

The court did not abuse its discretion in striking the affidavit and deposition of Fred O. Pasternack and excluding him as an expert because he was not qualified as an expert in the field in which he was asked to give expert testimony and he was not employed in that field at the time his opinions were given.

Entry of summary judgment was not improper on account of plaintiff's claimed lack of discovery because any such lack of discovery was the result of plaintiff's counsel's inexcusable inaction. The special master appointed specifically to hear discovery matters so found.

#### **ARGUMENT**

SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER BECAUSE NO ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT REMAINED TO BE DECIDED.

### Introduction.

Childers contended in her jurisdictional brief that the decision of Felix v. Hoffmann La Roche, Inc., 513 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), with which the

per curiam decision below is linked under the rationale of Jollie v. State, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981), conflicts with holdings in Tampa Drug Co. v. Wait, 103 So.2d 603 (Fla. 1958), Lake v. Konstantinu, 189 So.2d 171 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966), MacMurdo v. Upjohn Co., 444 So.2d 449 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) and Ricci v. Parke-Davis & Co., 491 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Roche continues to maintain that this court is without jurisdiction because, as argued in Roche's brief on jurisdiction, the facts of those cases were materially distinguishable and, in all events, the holdings related to the particular warnings in question, that is, none of the cases expressly held that adequacy of a warning in a prescription drug case is always a fact issue. Moreover, the Court of Appeal affirmed the summary judgment in Felix and, presumably, here on an additional ground as to which no conflict was asserted, that is, that any alleged inadequacy in the Accutane warning was not a legal cause of the decision to prescribe and the injuries complained of. Accordingly, there is no conflict between the decision of the Court of Appeal and the cited cases even if there is conflict in parts of the opinions.

All of the arguments presented to this court in Childers' brief on the merits were presented to the District Court of Appeal in both this case and Felix with the exception of Point II in this case relating to Roche's alleged duty to warn Childers personally of the teratogenic propensities of Accutane. The Court of Appeal in Felix found only two worthy of consideration, that is, whether the warnings about Accutane's teratogenic potential in the June 1982 package insert and physician's desk reference could be and were adequate as a matter of law and whether, in any event, the warnings had any causal connection with the physician's decision to prescribe the drug.

One of the arguments advanced by Childers is that Accutane was defective because its risks of harm outweighed its benefit to the public at large. Roche contends, as discussed, infra, that a prescription drug manufacturer's liability is governed by Comment k. to § 402 A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts which excludes a design defect/risk-benefit analysis. By focusing on and applying principles of law derived from Comment k. in Felix the Court of Appeal implicitly adopted this view.

The other points of error advanced by Childers here and in the Court of Appeal are, as follows: (1) a fact issue existed concerning Roche's misrepresentations to the FDA; (2) error in refusing to consider as evidence subsequent revisions to Roche's package insert; (3) error in excluding Mr. Pasternack as an expert; (4) incomplete discovery. If the Court of Appeal's decision in Felix was correct in affirming based on adequacy of the warning, no legal cause and implicit rejection of the design defect/risk-benefit analysis, then any error with respect to the remaining arguments is irrelevant because the result would not change.

### Principles Applicable to Prescription Drug Product Liability.

The seminal issues in a products liability suit are product defectiveness and legal cause. West v. Caterpiller Tractor Company, Inc., 336 So.2d 80, 86 (Fla. 1976); Royal v. Black & Decker Mfg., Co., 205 So.2d 307, 309 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967). Prescriptions drugs such as Accutane are among those "unavoidably unsafe" products whose utility and benefits outweigh their risks. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A, Comment k. (adopted as the law in Florida in West, supra.). This determination is made initially by the FDA which is empowered, through delegation of authority from the Secretary of the Department of Health and

Human Services, to approve an application for a new drug to be made available for prescription by physicians to the public at large. 21 U.S.C. § 355; 21 C.F.R. §5.10(a). An unavoidably unsafe prescription drug whose benefits have been determined by the FDA to outweigh its risks is not defective nor unreasonably dangerous if it is accompanied by proper directions and warnings of risks attendant to its use. Comment k.

Unlike over-the-counter drugs and other consumer items, prescription drugs are dispensed pursuant to prescriptions from physicians. The decision to prescribe a particular drug is within the medical judgment of the doctor; accordingly, it is the doctor who needs to know about the characteristics of the drug. Buckner v. Allergan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 400 So.2d 820 (Fla 5th DCA 1981), adopted in Florida the widely recognized principle that, in the case of prescription drugs, the manufacturer's duty to give proper directions and warning is to the prescribing physician, not the consuming patient.

Pharmaceutical companies then ... in selling prescription drugs are required to warn only the prescribing physician, who acts as a "learned intermediary" between manufacturer and consumer.

440 So.2d at 822.

#### No Fact Issue as to Whether Accutane Should Have Been Marketed.

Childers first argues that this record presents a fact issue as to whether Accutane was so dangerous that it should not have been marketed at all. Childers contends that support for her position is found in Comment i to Section 402A, Restatement (Second) of Torts and in Reyes v. Wyeth Laboratories, 498 F.2d 1264 (5th Cir. 1974). Comment i, however, merely defines the concept of "unreasonably dangerous." It clearly applies to products, unlike prescription drugs, which are avoidably unsafe. Comment k, relating to unavoidably unsafe products, is

applicable to the analysis of a prescription drug as indicated in the text of Comment k itself.  $\frac{9}{}$ 

Childers' statement on page 20 that one of the factors in determining the "degree of danger" of a prescription drug is a reasonable man's ordinary expectation is false because it is the expectation of the prescribing physician, trained in the uses of drugs to treat physical ailments, which is relevant, not the expectation of a "reasonable man" who could not possibly be "expected" to comprehend the pharmacological process of a drug without guidance and explanation from his prescribing physician. See Brown v. Superior Court (Abbott Laboratories), 751 P.2d 470 (Cal. 1988) in which the California Supreme Court expressly rejected Childers' premise, 751 P.2d at 477. See also Buckner v. Allergan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 400 So.2d 820 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). Childers further compounds the error by mis-citing Buckner for the proposition that both a patient ("ultimate consumer") and prescribing physician must be made aware of the dangerous propensities of the drug. Brief of petitioner, n. 6, p. 20. Buckner plainly holds that the manufacturer's obligation is to warn the medical community not the ultimate consumer. 440 So.2d at 822.

<sup>9/</sup> Comment k. provides in pertinent part:

There are some products which, in the present state of human knowledge, are quite incapable of being made safe for their intended and ordinary use. These are specially common in the field of drugs. \* \* Such a product, properly prepared, and accompanied by proper directions and warning, is not defective, nor is it unreasonably dangerous. The same is true of many other drugs, vaccines, and the like, many of which for this very reason, cannot legally be sold except to physicians, or under the prescription of a physician.

Reyes v. Wyeth Laboratories is a thirty page opinion in which the manufacturer of a polio vaccine was found liable to the plaintiff who contracted polio from the vaccine itself. The vaccine had been administered by a clinic through a non-physician. At 498 F.2d 1294 the court discusses "per se" liability based on a risk/benefit analysis. The court then disposes of the issue by simply taking notice of the fact that the benefit of polio vaccine outweighs its potential for harm. Thus, per se liability was not a basis for affirming the jury verdict against the manufacturer.

The risk/benefit analysis mentioned in dicta in Reyes has been expressly rejected in the case of prescription drugs in two recent cases from the state of California. In Brown v. Superior Court (Abbott Laboratories), 751 P.2d 470 (Cal. 1988), the court determined that prescription drug manufacturers should not be subjected to the traditional concepts of strict liability on the basis of the argument that a particular drug is defectively designed because the risk of harm in individual cases outweighs the benefit to the public at large. Instead, the court concluded that prescription drugs should be analyzed under Comment k. to Section 402 A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts which assumes that, although prescription drugs are unavoidably unsafe, their benefits outweigh their risks so that a manufacturer's liability will depend only on whether the warning accompanying the drug is adequate to convey the danger. The court reasoned that exposing drug manufacturers to strict liability based on a jury finding that the risks attendant to a drug outweighed its benefit under a design defect analysis would cause reluctance on the part of manufacturers to engage in research and development of new pharmaceuticals. Moreover, such a policy would drive up the cost of insurance, if available at all, and of additional research necessary to try to

discover every possible risk associated with a potentially beneficial drug and could place the cost of the drug beyond the reach of those who most need it. 751 P.2d at 479. For these reasons the court adopted Comment k. as applicable to all prescription drugs to the exclusion of a design defect analysis under strict liability.

In conclusion and in accord with almost all our sister states that have considered the issue, we hold that a manufacturer is not strictly liable for injuries caused by a prescription drug so long as the drug was properly prepared and accompanied by warnings of its dangerous propensities that were either known or reasonably scientifically knowable at the time of distribution.

Collins v. Karoll, 231 Cal. Rptr. 396 (Cal. App. 1986), reached the same result and cited the same policy factors but concluded that the design defect/risk-benefit analysis is conclusively decided in favor of the manufacturer when the FDA approves a new drug application after completing its thorough analysis.

When the FDA then determines, based on such testing, that a prescription drug or device is 'generally' safe if accompanied by warnings of the risks and side effects identified in the product testing, this determination logically equates to a finding that the product is unavoidably unsafe, i.e., it is as safe as it can be made, given present knowledge and capability, but retains a risk which cannot be avoided but can be warned against.

231 Cal. Rptr. at 404. The court's ultimate conclusion was that:

["W]hether the interest in availability (again measured as of the time of distribution) outweighs the interest in promoting enhanced accountability through strict liability design defect review" [citation omitted] has been answered by the FDA's approval of the prescription product in favor of availability.

231 Cal. Rptr. at 406. The court emphasized that the holding was limited to instances where, as here, the plaintiff is injured "in precisely the manner about which the manufacturer had warned...."

These cases stand for the proposition that a prescription drug manufacturer's liability will be measured by the Comment k. standard, not a design defect/risk-benefit analysis which is not contemplated by Comment k. The California courts view Comment k. as an exception to strict liability. Whether it is viewed as an exception to or an extension of the doctrine, the well-reasoned policy considerations set out in *Brown* and *Collins* for limiting prescription drug manufacturer's liability to the parameters of Comment k. are compelling.

Notwithstanding the non-applicability of the design defect argument, none of the recitations to evidence in the record set out in footnotes 8 through 10 on page 22 of petitioner's brief bring into question whether Accutane's risks outweighed its benefits. The quoted article in footnote 8 by Dr. Benke merely states that Accutane's "potential teratogenicity [in humans] was well known" based on birth defects in newborn animals. Roche fully agrees and the applicable warning so states. There is no opinion or even suggestion by Dr. Benke that the risk of birth defects was so great that Accutane should not be marketed. The O'Donnell affidavit referenced in footnote 9 says only that Accutane was not known to be reasonably safe. The safety of Accutane, however, is not a fact issue. Accutane as a prescription drug is, as a matter of law, unavoidably unsafe but not "defective" if accompanied by a warning adequate to convey its risks to the medical profession. Comment k. Mr. O'Donnell's affidavit, not to mention his lack of qualifications, adds nothing to the substantive issues in this cause. The affidavit and deposition of Mr. Pasternack referenced in footnote 10 were stricken from the record by order dated May 7, 1986. (R 1332.) The correctness of that order is discussed infra.

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